
Cabinet 
 

Meeting Venue 
By Teams 

 

 
 

County Hall 
Llandrindod Wells 

Powys 
LD1 5LG 

 
Meeting date 
Friday, 12 March 2021 

 
Meeting time 
2.00 pm 

 
For further information please contact 
Stephen Boyd 
01597 826374 
steve.boyd@powys.gov.uk 

 8 March 2021 
 

 

Mae croeso i chi siarad yn Gymraeg neu yn Saesneg yn y cyfarfod.  
Rhowch wybod pa iaith rydych am ei defnyddio erbyn hanner dydd, ddau ddiwrnod 
gwaith cyn y cyfarfod.  
You are welcome to speak Welsh or English in the meeting.  
Please inform us of which language you wish to use by noon, two working days 
before the meeting. 

 

AGENDA 

 
1.  APOLOGIES  

 
To receive apologies for absence. 
 
 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items to be 
considered on the agenda. 
 
 

3.  VALUING RESIDENTIAL CARE  

 
To consider a report by County Councillor Myfanwy Alexander, Portfolio Holder for 
Adult Social Care. 
(Pages 3 - 10) 
 

4.  PERFORMANCE OF LIBRARY SERVICE UNDER WELSH PUBLIC 
LIBRARY STANDARDS FRAMEWORK, 2019/20  

 
To consider a report by County Councillor Rachel Powell, Portfolio Holder for Young 
People and Culture.  
(To Follow) 
 

Public Document Pack



5.  MID WALES GROWTH DEAL INTER AUTHORITY AGREEMENT  

 
To consider the Mid Wales Growth Deal Inter Authority Agreement. 
(To Follow) 
 

6.  EXEMPT ITEMS  

 
The Monitoring Officer has determined that category  3 of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules applies to the following items. His view on the public interest test 
(having taken account of the provisions of Rule 14.8 of the Council's Access to 
Information Rules) was that to make this information public would disclose 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). 
 
These factors in his view outweigh the public interest in disclosing this information. 
Members are asked to consider these factors when determining the public interest 
test, which they must decide when considering excluding the public from this part of 
the meeting. 
 
 

7.  REVIEW OF MRP POLICY  

 
To consider a report by County Councillor Aled Davies, Portfolio Holder for Finance 
and Transport. 
(To Follow) 
 

8.  GLOBAL CENTRE OF RAIL EXCELLENCE BRIEFING  

 
To receive a briefing on the Global Centre of Rail Excellence. 
(To Follow) 
 
 
 



CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL. 
 

CABINET EXECUTIVE 
12 March 2021 

 
REPORT AUTHOR: County Councillor Myfanwy Alexander 

Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care 
  
REPORT TITLE: Valuing Residential Care 

 

  
 

REPORT FOR: 
 

Decision 

 
1. Purpose 

1.1. Cabinet approved the report of 15th September 2020, titled Valuing 
Care. That report requested Cabinet’s agreement to undertake a 
review of the care home fees paid by Powys County Council for older 
persons’ residential and nursing care homes. 
 

1.2. The recommendations agreed were for officers to work with 
Rockhaven Healthcare Consulting to undertake a review of care 
home fees in Powys and for the Head of Commissioning in Social 
Services to return to Cabinet with proposals based upon the findings 
of the review for new fee rates for Cabinet’s agreement for 
implementation. 

 
2. Background 

2.1. The beneficiaries of the services commissioned by the Council are 
Powys residents and meeting their needs is a principal concern. It is 
essential that services operate safely and effectively to promote the 
welfare of service users and carers, so that all parties can meet 
regulatory requirements.  
 

2.2. In optimising benefits for residents, the Council is committed to 
working in partnership with social care providers to support adults to 
remain in their homes and to develop alternatives to registered care. 
This is a key element in the Health and Care Strategy and can be 
seen in the development of extra care schemes and the increased 
use of TEC (Technology Enabled Care). 

 
2.3. However, registered care homes have a vital role in providing 24-hour 

care and support to residents with the highest level of needs. For them 
and for carers, choice is a vital component of planning for the provision 
of care and support. Powys County Council has a statutory duty to 
provide access to, and commission a range of social care services to 
meet the assessed care needs of residents. This includes ensuring 
that people living in registered care homes are safe, are treated with 
respect and dignity and are offered high quality support and care. It is 
imperative, therefore, that the price which the Council pays for 

Page 3

3



registered care is sufficient to ensure these core requirements are 
guaranteed. 

 
2.4. As part of its wider responsibilities, the Council has a duty to help 

ensure that local care markets have sufficient capacity, stability, and 
appropriate service models to meet the communities’ needs. Each 
year, it currently spends over £20m on residential and nursing care. 
With an increasingly ageing population, the overall challenge is to 
keep care cost at a manageable level in terms of the Council’s 
revenue position while ensuring that residents continue to be 
supported in having access to a sustainable care market across the 
county 

 
2.5. Successive court rulings have placed a requirement on councils to 

understand and consider the ‘actual costs’ faced by their local care 
home providers. Councils have also been required to ensure that the 
fee levels will support sufficient and sustainable capacity and choice 
of care home provision within the local market. In setting and 
reviewing providers’ costs, Councils should have due regard to the 
actual costs of providing care and other local factors but also to 
achieving best value in the use of public monies. 

 
2.6. On the 14th March 2018 Cabinet agreed to implement the results of a 

Fair Cost of Care review that was undertaken during the previous 
year. The report recommended new standard fee rates. 

 
2.7. The intention was for the fee rates to be reviewed fully every three 

years and Cabinet approved in September 2020 for this work to be 
undertaken to consider findings and implementation for April 2021. 

 
2.8. There are, currently, some care homes who state that they are on the 

verge of being unsustainable due to the fee rates provided by Powys 
County Council. The COVID-19 pandemic has not helped this 
situation with providers’ fees in Powys based on an occupancy rate of 
95% of their homes, while some of the care homes are now working 
with significantly higher vacancy rates. The Council has facilitated 
access to the Welsh Government’s Hardship Fund to support these 
homes’ sustainability over the past year. 

 
The Fair Cost of Care Review Undertaken from October 2020 to February 
2021 

2.9. With support from finance and legal services, senior managers in 
Adult Social Care commissioned an independent specialist to 
examine the costs of providing care home services in Powys, to 
introduce sustainable care home fees for providing elderly residential 
and nursing care in the four relevant categories (general nursing, 
dementia nursing, general residential and dementia residential). 

2.10. The review entailed conducting interviews with local older 
persons’ care home providers. All Powys based independent 
residential and nursing care homes were invited to take part in the 

Page 4



review (this did not include the Powys County Council owned and 
Shaw Healthcare run care homes as this is subject to a separate 
contract). The review was completed using the Rockhaven 
worksheets with 16 of the 18 independent care homes in Powys 
participating. Within the review, the care homes taking part forwarded 
financial, timesheet and other relevant information and attended one-
to-one meetings. 
 

2.11. Officers gave clear guidance that this was a review of actual costs 
incurred by providers - i.e., not an opportunity for them to supply 
inflated costs, but to share with the authority evidence of what should 
be considered the reasonable weekly cost for care services within 
their home/s. This review was used to understand what prices should 
be, going forward, taking into consideration external factors that 
would have an impact upon providers’ costs. 

 
2.12. All aspects of a care home’s operation and costs were taken in to 

account within the review - for example, the size of care home; 
‘hotel,’ management, and staffing costs; occupancy levels; type of 
care home/organisation, profit margins, etc. The information and 
data provided by the care homes was aggregated and analysed to 
establish the actual costs of care, including costs related to the 
provision of dementia services. This analysis also included 
consideration of factors such as the size of the home and property 
costs, to determine their impact on provider costs and capacity. 
 

2.13. Council officers gave due consideration to all the issues raised by 
providers so that future fee proposals continued to support a viable 
local market of provision that would meet future needs, reducing 
some care homes’ plans to introduce additional top-up fees to 
residents. They looked also to ensure that the fee levels and the fee 
model continued to enable providers to maintain and improve the 
quality of care. 

 
2.14. Given the wide range of different business and accountancy modus 

operandi used by providers, the criteria and rationale for deciding 
how to set out the costs (fixed and variable) costs were agreed in the 
Senior Management meeting. The main decision was to use the 
average cost of the Powys portfolio for the provision type (for 
example, staffing, catering, and utilities) less any outliers (i.e., care 
homes with exceptionally high or low costs). The analysis of data 
provided by homes was then considered alongside the Council’s key 
priorities for health and social care services. It also considered the 
future needs for residential and nursing care across the County. 

2.15. Senior Managers considered the occupancy rate that should be 
used to calculate a fair cost of care. In 2017/18 the rate used was 
95%. However, it is recognised that this does not reflect the current 
reality for most homes as a result of the pandemic. 

 

Page 5



2.16. It was decided, therefore, to use 95% occupancy to calculate the 
rate, but for Powys County Council to provide an additional premium 
for the current period of the pandemic.  This additional premium 
would be the difference between the 95% and 90% occupancy.  This 
recognises that the Welsh Government’s Hardship Fund works on 
90% occupancy rates and this is, therefore, being accepted 
nationally as a standard during this troubled time. 

 
2.17. The premium would be reviewed on a regular basis and would only 

be implemented during the period of pandemic while Social Services 
in Powys County Council has invoked business continuity. 

 
2.18. This information considered together informed the recommendation 

on fee levels in this report. 
 
3. Advice 

3.1. The external pressure on care home fees, and the adopted 
Rockhaven worksheets requires that the Council considers fees 
again. 
 

3.2. It is recognised that not all care homes provide the same 
environmental standards. This has been made more apparent in 
Powys with recent development of purpose-built care facilities. To 
support the care home market to improve its property standards and 
to enable a better-quality care home offer to residents, it is 
recommended that the Council adopt Powys fee rate and a fee rate 
for “Silver” and “Gold Standard” rooms. 

 
3.3. This standards system will reflect similar developments in domiciliary 

care fees and is aimed at supporting the care market in a proactive 
manner. The standards will relate to accommodation aspects of the 
provision, such as room size and en-suite facilities, and not the care 
element. 

 
3.4. A suggested approach to the standards is set out in the table below: 

 

 Standard 

Room 
Silver 
Room 

Gold 
Room 

Room Size - useable floor space: 
• 12m² for single room & mobile resident 

• 13.5 m² for single room & wheelchair using resident 

• 16 m² for shared bedroom 

 Yes Yes 

En-suite (lavatory and accessible wash hand basin in 

unit/room)  Yes  

En-suite (en suite bathroom which includes an 

accessible wash hand basin, lavatory and accessible 
shower.) 

  Yes 

 

3.5. Officers will work with the care home market in Powys to set and 
refine the standards for the Silver and Gold Standards.  

Page 6



3.6. The intention would be for the premium (set out in 2.16-2.17 above) 
to continue for the Gold Standard rooms after it was removed for the 
purposes of the pandemic. 
 

3.7. The Silver Standard rates will be set following a review at the time of 
removing the premium associated with the pandemic. 

 
3.8. Cabinet needs to consider the recommended fees to agree 

implementation of the findings in April 2021. The fee rates 
recommended, following the review are: 

 

POWYS 
CARE 
HOME 
WEEKLY 
FEE RATES 

Residential 
Care 

Residential 
Care 
Dementia 

Nursing 
Care  
 
(Not including 
health 
component of 
Funded 
Nursing Care) 

Nursing 
Care 
Dementia 
(Not including 
health 
component of 
Funded 
Nursing Care) 

Pandemic 

Rate & 

Continuing 

Gold 

Standard 

Rate 

£694 £704 £695 £733 

Standard  

Powys Rate 
£659 £669 £660 £698 

 
3.9. The fee rates would increase or decrease by annually according to 

consideration of: 
3.9.1. The change in Consumer Price Index across homes’ expenditure 
3.9.2. The change in the National Living Wage for eligible staff 
3.9.3. Consideration of the Bank of England Interest Rate and its impact 

on Return on Capital Employed 
 

3.10. The fee rates will remain for 3 or 4 years (accepting the changes 
made by 3.6 above), at which point a full review would be undertaken 
(with recommendations to be implemented in April 2024 or April 
2025). 
 

3.11. For information, the current fees for 2020/21 are £539 (residential 
care), £559 (residential care dementia), £544 (nursing care – not 
including FNC (Funded Nursing Care)), £580 (nursing care dementia 
– not including FNC) 

 
3.12. The new fees are comparable to fee rates of other Councils across 

Wales (as shared in previous report of 15 September 2020), and 
reflect the reality of the costs to the providers currently in Powys. 

Page 7



3.13. There are significant financial implications to the decision. However, 
all the costs will be contained within the increased Adult Social Care 
budget that will be in place for 2021/22. 

 

4. Resource Implications 

4.1. The number of individuals entering care homes has been reducing 
over the past year, as shown in the graphs below for residential and 
nursing care which reflect that there were 48 new care home 
placements in January 2020 in comparison to 13 in January 2021. 

 

 

 
 

4.2. There were 763 people placed by Powys County Council in care 
homes on the 1st March 2020. This had reduced to 685 by January 
2021.  Of these 685, these fees will relate to 304 individuals who are 
placed in the independent care homes considered. 
 

4.3. As can be seen in the tables below, the average age of admission 
into residential care has increased over the past year (85 years in 
January 2020 and 89 years in January 2021), and this has been 
similar for nursing care, but at a slower pace: 

 

 

Page 8



 

4.4. While this is, in part, because of COVID-19 and changing public 
perception and attitudes, it is also the Council’s and national strategy 
to support more people to live independently with support at home. 
 

4.5. The resulting potential increased annual cost, per bed, to the Adult 
Social Care service is shown in the table below. 
 

 Res Res EMI Nursing 
Nursing 

EMI 

PCC’s Weekly Fee Rates 
2020/21 

£539.00 £559.00 £544.00 £580.00 

Proposed Weekly Fee 
Rates 2021/22 

£659.00 £669.00 £660.00 £698.00 

Difference £120.00 £110.00 £116.00 £118.00 

Increase (annual) £6,257 £5,736 £6,048 £6,153 

 

4.6. The premium to all weekly fees during the pandemic (as set out in 
3.5), which could be in place for the full year, will have additional non 
recurrent financial implications of approximately £455k, which will be 
contained by use of identified grants within the Adult Social Care 
budget for 2021/22. 
 

4.7. Therefore, the total additional cost to the Council of the increased 
fees will be approximately £1.9m for the first year and £1.7m for the 
second year (notwithstanding the potential for inflationary 
increases).  However, as set out above, this cost is to be managed 
within the Adult Social Care budget. 

 
4.8. This report has been considered by the Head of Finance (Section 

151 officer), who has commented as follows: The Fair Cost of Care 
review was implemented to understand and consider the actual cost 
of providing residential care by the local care home providers and to 
calculate an appropriate fee structure to ensure that there is 
sufficient and sustainable capacity with the local markets.   The 
review has been undertaken in a robust and systematic way based 
on the principles of the “Lets Agree to Agree” guidance 
commissioned by Welsh Government through the Institute of Public 
Care.   The new fees are comparable to fee rates of other Councils 
across Wales and reflects the reality of the costs to the providers 
currently in Powys.  There is a significant financial implication of 
implementing the proposed fees, this has been considered as part 

Page 9



of the budget setting process and the additional funding to support 
the decision is approved within the Council’s budget for 2021/22.    

 

5. Legal implications 
5.1  Legal : The recommendation can be supported from a legal point 

of view. 
 

5.2 The Head of Legal and Democratic Services ( Monitoring Officer) has 
commented as follows:  “ I note the legal comment and have 
nothing to add to the report”. 

 
6. Data Protection 

6.1. The proposal does not involve any processing of personal data. 
 

7. Comment from local member(s) 
7.1. This is a pan-Powys issue and is not specifically relevant to local 

areas. 
 

8. Integrated Impact Assessment 
8.1. Undertaking this review work would not impact upon the public of 

Powys, other than in a positive manner in sustaining the care 
homes of the county and supporting local employment and care 
provision. No further impact assessment is required. 

 

9. Recommendation 

9.1. For Cabinet to approve the new fee rates for care homes in Powys 
as set out in pargraphs 3.8 – 3.10 of this report. 

 

Contact Officer: Dylan Owen                        Email: dylan.owen@powys.gov.uk 
 
Head of Service: Dylan Owen                              Corporate Director: Alison Bulman 

 

Page 10


	Agenda
	3 Valuing Residential Care

